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From: Judnic, Nathan - DOA <nathan.judnic@wisconsin.gov>  
Sent: Monday, May 12, 2025 1:25 PM 
To: Leis, Jason J - KRM <Jason.Leis@wisconsin.gov> 
Cc: Ramsey, William H - DOA <William.Ramsey@wisconsin.gov> 
Subject: April 17, 2025 Meeting - Kickapoo Reserve Management Board - Vote 

 
Jason,  
Following up on our conversation regarding the Board action at the April 17, 2025 meeting regarding 
the Prairie Springs buildings 1 and 2.  I understand that a motion was made at that public meeting 
that stated the Board’s intention and desired goal was to transfer ownership of the Prairie Springs 
buildings 1 and 2 to the Kickapoo Valley Forest School or La Farge School district pending 
information regarding options for that process from the State of Wisconsin.   
 
In reviewing the public notice for that meeting, it does not appear that a discussion of the sale of 
these buildings was on the open session agenda, therefore any discussions or actions of the board 
(motions) seem out of order/improper.  A “reasonableness” standard is used to analyze whether a 
notice of a public meeting is sufficient under the open meetings law.  Under this “reasonableness” 
standard adopted by the courts – a “case by case” specific analysis is done to determine whether 
the notice is sufficiently specific and what is reasonable under the circumstances.  See State ex 
rel. Buswell v. Tomah Areas Sch. Dist., 2007 WI 71,¶ 22.  In making that determination, the factors 
to be considered include: 1) the burden of providing more detailed notice, 2) whether the subject is 
of particular public interest, and 3) whether it involves non-routine action that the public would be 
unlikely to anticipate.  Buswell ¶ 28.   
 
The circumstances here do not seem to pass the reasonableness test: 1) seems the burden would 
have been low to provide more notice – “Discussing and potential board action on sale of Prairie 
Springs Building 1 and 2” would have been sufficient – but that did not appear, 2) the use of these 
buildings and the potential sale of these buildings seem to have high public interest in the 
community, and 3) this seem like an issue that could generate lots of public participation and 
comment had it been properly noticed.   
 
There is no legal requirement that an item be on a notice/agenda as an “action” item for a vote to 
be taken – however the subject matter of the vote must be adequately specific in the notice so that 
the public would be alerted to the importance of the meeting so that they can make an informed 
decision whether to attend. See Buswell ¶26; State ex rel. Olson v. City of Baraboo Joint Rev. Bd., 
2002 WI App 64, ¶15.   
 
In my opinion, the agenda/notice for this meeting did not contain enough specificity of the subject 
matter for the public to be informed of potential actions of the Board as required under Wis. Stat. 
19.84(2) and interpreted under the “reasonableness” standard set forth in Wisconsin caselaw.   
 
---------- 
 
On a related note, I previously provided you information on the 3 questions that you sent to RJ 
Binau in the Division of Facilities Development on the authority to give the buildings to the school at 
no charge.  Information contained in that email provides the statutory process the Board would 
need to follow should it decide it wants to dispose of the Prairie 1 and 2 buildings.   As outlined in 
that email, the Board does not have any independent statutory authority that allows it to gift or 
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transfer state-owned property.  If the Board does want to sell these buildings, a first step would be 
to property notice any such discussion and potential action, followed by a motion to prepare and 
submit a request to the State Building Commission and prepare any necessary notifications to the 
Joint Committee on Finance – Wis. Stat. s. 13.48(14).   
 
I hope this information is helpful, please let me know if you have any additional questions.  
 
Regards,  
 
 

 

Nathan W. Judnic | Legal Counsel 
Department of Administration 
Division of Legal Services 
nathan.judnic@wisconsin.gov 
Direct: (608) 261-4375  

 
PLEASE NOTE: While government records are generally subject to disclosure pursuant to the public 
records law, this email, including any attachments, may contain confidential and/or privileged 
information exempt from public disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient or believe that you 
received this email in error, please notify the sender immediately. 
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